**S251392**

**SUPREME COURT NO. \_\_\_\_\_**

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

---

**MONSTER ENERGY COMPANY,**

Plaintiff, Respondent, and Petitioner,

v.

**BRUCE L. SCHECHTER, R. REX PARRIS LAW FIRM,**

Defendants and Appellants.

---

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

From the Opinion of the Court of Appeal of the State of California,  
Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E066267  
on Appeal from The Superior Court of California,  
County of Riverside, Case No. RIC1511553  
(Hon. Daniel A. Ottolia)

---

**SHOOK, HARDY & BACON L.L.P.**

Frank C. Rothrock (SBN: 54452; [frothrock@shb.com](mailto:frothrock@shb.com))

### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. An attorney for one of the parties to a settlement agreement signs it under the legend “APPROVED AS TO FORM AND CONTENT.” The settlement agreement contains confidentiality provisions that are explicitly binding on the parties and their attorneys. Is the attorney bound by these provisions or does the attorney’s signature merely convey professional approval for the attorney’s client to sign the agreement?

2. Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16, subdivision (b) provides that an anti-SLAPP motion should be denied if the plaintiff establishes a probability it will prevail. In ruling on the plaintiff’s probability of success, may a court ignore extrinsic evidence that supports the plaintiff’s claim? Here, for example, the defendant

attorney advised a reporter for a plaintiffs' legal blog that he could not disclose the terms of a confidential settlement. Was it appropriate for the Court of Appeal to accept his explanation that this statement reflected his ethical obligations to his client and to disregard plaintiff Monster's contention that this statement could reasonably be construed by a trier of fact as an admission that the attorney and his law firm were bound by the confidentiality provisions in the parties' settlement agreement?

3. In determining whether statements qualify as commercial speech exempt from an anti-SLAPP motion under Code of Civil Procedure section 425.17, subdivision (c), is it appropriate – as determined by the Court of Appeal in this case – to resolve this issue based on whether the challenged speech is successful in generating business for the speaker?

### **INTRODUCTION: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED**

California courts have recognized the important role of confidentiality in fostering California's policy in favor of settlement. (See, e.g., *Hinshaw, Winkler, Draa, Marsh & Still v. Superior Court* (1996) 51 Cal.App.4th 233, 241, disapproved on another ground in *Williams v. Superior Court* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 531, 558, fn. 8.) And there should be no dispute that a confidentiality provision in a settlement agreement has little value if it is not binding on both the parties and their attorneys.

Prior to the Court of Appeal's decision in this case, there was no published California appellate authority addressing what language

is necessary to bind parties' attorneys to a confidentiality provision in a settlement agreement. To the extent guidance existed, it suggested that an attorney for a settling party should be bound by a confidentiality provision irrespective of whether the attorney signed the settlement agreement as a party or expressed approval of its form.<sup>1</sup>

Here, parties settled a wrongful death action against Monster based on allegations the plaintiffs' daughter died after ingestion of Monster's energy drinks. The parties entered into a settlement agreement that contained confidentiality provisions expressly binding on the parties and their attorneys. The attorneys for the parties signed the settlement agreement under the legend "APPROVED AS TO FORM AND CONTENT."

Monster contends one of the attorneys for the plaintiffs in the wrongful death action violated the terms of the confidentiality provisions by stating to a reporter for a plaintiffs' blog that the case had settled for "substantial dollars." Monster sued the defendant attorneys ("Attorneys") for the plaintiffs in the settled case for breach of the confidentiality provisions in the settlement agreement. The trial court denied, in part, an anti-SLAPP motion brought by the Attorneys.

---

<sup>1</sup> (See, e.g., Rutan & Tucker LLP, *First amendment/anti-Slapp did not insulate law firm from liability for violation of confidentiality clause in mediated settlement agreement* (July 2, 2013) <<http://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=93f3f0cb-e179-42dd-9797-7615443a3f8e>> [as of Sept. 16, 2018] [attorney's breach of a confidentiality provision is not protected by Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16; cited in Respondent's Br. at 23] (hereafter Rutan & Tucker First Amendment/anti-SLAPP article);

Lewis, Settlement Template <[www.mediatorjudge.com/pg13.cfm](http://www.mediatorjudge.com/pg13.cfm)> [as of Sept. 16, 2018] (hereafter Lewis Settlement Template);

Croskey et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Insurance Litigation (The Rutter Group 2017) Form 15:C, pp. 15-252 to 15-254 (hereafter Croskey Settlement Form).)

The Court of Appeal reversed this order with directions to the trial court, on remand, to enter an order granting the anti-SLAPP motion in its entirety. (Opn. at 22.)

The Court of Appeal placed singular reliance on a decision by the Nebraska Supreme Court in a case involving a different procedural issue and factual setting – *RSUI Indemnity Co. v. Bacon* (2011) 282 Neb. 436 (hereafter *RSUI*). It concluded, “The only reasonable construction of this wording [i.e., APPROVED AS TO FORM AND CONTENT] is that [Attorneys] were signing solely in the capacity of attorneys who had reviewed the settlement agreement and had given their clients their professional approval to sign it. In our experience, this is the wording that the legal community customarily uses for this purpose.” (Opn. at 17.) But it provided no references or examples on which this “experience” is based.

The Court of Appeal failed to adhere to the rule that, in addressing the probability-of-success prong under the anti-SLAPP statute, it was required to accept as true the evidence favorable to Monster and to evaluate the Attorneys’ evidence only to determine if it defeated Monster’s evidence as a matter of law. (*Oasis West Realty, LLC v. Goldman* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 811, 820 (hereafter *Oasis West*)). There was no dispute that, before telling a reporter for a plaintiff’s blog the case had settled for substantial dollars, defendant Bruce L. Schechter (a member of Attorneys’ firm) admitted to the reporter that he could not disclose the terms of the settlement. (Clerk’s Transcript at 45.)<sup>2</sup> But the Court of Appeal simply accepted the Attorneys’

---

<sup>2</sup> Mr. Schechter apparently felt – mistakenly – that he was only obligated not to disclosure the amount of the settlement.

explanation that this statement was based on some ethical duty to their clients. It ignored the alternative explanation – that this statement reflected an admission by the Attorneys that they were bound by the confidentiality provisions in the parties’ Settlement Agreement. (Opn. at 16, fn. 2.)

The Court of Appeal also failed to consider the issue of whether a trier of fact could reasonably conclude that an attorney who approves the content of an agreement – the content of which contains provisions expressly binding on the attorney – is consenting to be bound by these provisions. Finally, it gave no consideration to how a trier of fact would react to Mr. Schechter’s awkward attempt to explain that he approved only the content of the confidentiality provisions as they applied to his firm’s clients, but not their content as they applied to him and his law firm. (CT at 117-118.)

The Court of Appeal’s Opinion sends a message that an attorney may negotiate a settlement agreement and approve its content – the content of which imposes a duty of confidentiality on the attorney – and then simply ignore this provision. And the only way the attorney can be called to account, according to the Court of Appeal, is through a lawsuit against the attorney’s client. (Opn. at 21.)

The Court of Appeal’s decision raises additional problems that call for review. Its reliance on *RSUI* (Opn. at 19) is at odds with California authority on the language necessary to convey a party’s agreement to be bound by a contract. *RSUI* held an attorney’s signature under the legend “Agreed to in Form & Substance” was insufficient to bind an attorney and his law firm to the terms of a

settlement agreement. (*RSUI, supra*, 282 Neb. at p. 437.) But the Judicial Council’s jury instruction on formation of a contract includes the following element: “That the parties *agreed* to the terms of the contact.” (CACI No. 302 (2018 ed.), emphasis added.)

Finally, the Opinion resolved the commercial-speech exemption issue based on the fact there was no evidence Mr. Schechter’s statement to the reporter that the case against Monster had settled for “substantial dollars” generated any leads for the Attorneys. (Opn. at 12-13.) The question of whether speech is commercial or protected speech that involves an issue of public interest should not turn on whether it is successful in generating business for the speaker.

This petition meets the criterion of California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1) because it presents important questions of law. What contractual language is necessary to bind an attorney to a confidentiality (or other) provision in a settlement agreement that imposes obligations on the attorney? In the context of an anti-SLAPP motion, to what extent is a plaintiff entitled to the benefit of the doubt in weighing and construing evidence that may be considered by a trier of fact to determine whether a defendant has agreed to be bound by a contractual provision? What is the appropriate test for application of the commercial-speech exemption in Code of Civil Procedure section 425.17, subdivision c?

## **BACKGROUND**

### **A. The Fourniers' Wrongful Death Action**

Wendy Crossland and Richard Fournier (“Fourniers”) filed a lawsuit against Monster in 2012 for the alleged wrongful death of their daughter based on claims of product liability. (OB at 7.)<sup>3</sup> Attorneys (Bruce L. Schechter and his law firm, R. Rex Parris Law Firm) represented the Fourniers in the wrongful death suit. (*Ibid.*)

### **B. The Settlement Agreement**

The Fourniers and Monster entered into a Confidential Settlement Agreement and Release (“Settlement Agreement”) on July 29, 2015. (SSCT at 22-33.) The Settlement Agreement included provisions acknowledging that it was the result of “extensive good faith negotiations between the Parties through their respective counsel” and that it was entered into on behalf of the “settling parties, individually, as well as on behalf of their . . . attorneys, . . .” (SSCT at 26 [§ 7.01] and 22 [p. 1, second ¶].) The parties released all claims

---

<sup>3</sup> “AR” will refer to the materials attached to Attorneys’ Motion to Augment the Record, which was granted by the Court of Appeal on December 5, 2016.

“CT” will refer to the Clerk’s Transcript.

“OB” will refer to the Opening Brief to the Court of Appeal by Attorneys (defendants and appellants Bruce L. Schechter and the R. Rex Parris Law Firm).

“RB” will refer to the Respondent’s Brief to the Court of Appeal by Monster.

“RT” will refer to the Reporter’s Transcript of the proceedings in the trial court on June 15, 2016.

“SSCT” will refer to the Sealed Supplemental Clerk’s Transcript.

against each other and the other side's attorneys. (SSCT at 23-24 [§§ 1.1, 1.2].)

The Settlement Agreement contained comprehensive confidentiality provisions under which the Fourniers "and their counsel of record" (i.e., Attorneys) agreed that the "terms, conditions and details" of the Settlement Agreement, "including its existence are to remain confidential." (SSCT at 27 [¶ 11.1].) They further agreed not to make any statements about the settlement in the media, including to an entity identified as "Lawyers & Settlements," and that any comments made regarding the settlement would be limited to "this matter has been resolved" or "words to their effect." (SSCT at 27-28 [§§ 11.1, 11.2, and 11.3].)

The Settlement Agreement was signed on behalf of Attorneys by Mr. Schechter under the legend "APPROVED AS TO FORM AND CONTENT." (SSCT at 32-33.)

### **C. Attorneys Breach The Settlement Agreement**

Less than two months after the Settlement Agreement was signed, an article appeared in LawyersandSettlements.com on September 15, 2015, regarding the settlement of the Fourniers' wrongful death action. The article was titled " 'Substantial Dollars' for Family in Monster Energy Drink Wrongful Death Suit." (CT at 149.) LawyersandSettlements.com is a lead-generating website for attorneys that touts itself as having "forwarded hundreds of thousands of requests for legal representation directly to lawyers." (CT at 156.)

The LawyersandSettlements.com article referred to Mr. Schechter as "a veteran attorney with a lot of experience dealing

with executives and taking depositions from executives from the Monster Energy drink company. Schechter's most recent case resulted in 'substantial dollars' for the family of a 14-year old that went to a mall with girlfriends in the summer of 2011, drank two Monster Energy drinks and died of cardiac arrest." (CT at 149.) The article went on to describe Mr. Schechter as "a master litigator in the fight for compensation on behalf of a number of families who have had loved ones injured or die after consuming the highly caffeinated beverage." (*Ibid.*) Below the article was an advertisement offering "Monster Energy Drink Injury Legal Help" at no cost. (*Ibid.*)

The author of the article, Brenda A. Craig, was deposed and provided a sworn affidavit that established Mr. Schechter was interviewed by her on September 4, 2015. She confirmed the accuracy of the statements attributed to Mr. Schechter in the September 15, 2015, LawyersandSettlements.com article. (CT at 141-144, 149-150, 153-154.)

#### **D. Attorneys' Anti-SLAPP Motion**

Monster filed this case on September 25, 2015. (AR at 1.) Monster alleged causes of action for breach of contract, breach of covenant of good faith, unjust enrichment, and promissory estoppel against Attorneys on the ground Mr. Schechter's statements to Ms. Craig regarding the settlement of the Fourniers' lawsuit breached the confidentiality provisions in the Settlement Agreement. (AR at 3-12.)

On October 23, 2015, Attorneys filed a Special Motion to Strike Monster's Complaint under Code of Civil Procedure section

425.16. (CT at 1.) Attorneys argued that Monster’s Complaint constituted a strategic lawsuit against public participation and that Mr. Schechter’s statements to Ms. Craig regarding the settlement of the Fourniers’ wrongful death action constituted protected activity in furtherance of Mr. Schechter’s constitutional right of free speech related to an issue of public interest. They further contended Monster could not establish a probability that it will prevail on its claims. (CT at 3, 6-18.)

The gist of Attorneys’ argument was that they were not parties to the Settlement Agreement, but merely gave approval for their clients to sign it. (CT at 12-13.) They acknowledged that Mr. Schechter told Ms. Craig he could not disclose the terms of the settlement, but tried to explain that this statement was motivated by his desire to protect his clients and avoid potential litigation against them. (CT at 128, 129.)<sup>4</sup>

The trial court held a hearing on Attorneys’ anti-SLAPP motion on June 15, 2016. (RT 1-24; CT at 207-232.) It denied the motion as to Monster’s cause of action for breach of contract, but granted the motion as to Monster’s other claims for breach of covenant of good faith, unjust enrichment, and promissory estoppel. (RT 23:5-12; CT at 230, 235-236.)

The trial court found that Attorneys had met their initial burden of showing the statements allegedly in violation of the confidentiality provisions of the Settlement Agreement were protected speech addressing the public interest in safety. (RT 3:1-4:20; CT at 210-

---

<sup>4</sup> Although Mr. Schechter did not deny stating to Ms. Craig that the Fourniers’ action had settled for “substantial dollars,” he claimed that he had no memory of using this language. (CT at 45.)

211.) But the trial court also found Monster had met its burden of establishing a probability of success with respect to its cause of action for breach of contract. (RT 4:21-7:18; CT at 211-214.)

The trial court's order denying the anti-SLAPP motion as to Monster's cause of action for breach of contract was entered on June 15, 2016. (CT at 196.) Attorneys filed a Notice of Appeal the same day. (CT at 198.)

### **E. The Court Of Appeal's Opinion**

The Court of Appeal's Opinion poses and answers the core question in this case as follows: "When a settlement agreement provides that the '[p]laintiffs and their counsel agree' to keep the terms of the agreement confidential, and when the plaintiffs' counsel signs the agreement under the words, 'Approved as to form and content,' can the plaintiffs' counsel be liable to the defendant for breach of the confidentiality provision? We answer this question, 'No.' " (Opn. at 1-2, brackets in original.) The balance of the Opinion describes the circuitous route taken by the Court of Appeal to support this conclusion.

The Opinion quotes some of the terms of the Settlement Agreement, including its confidentiality provisions. (Opn. at 2-5.) It notes the Settlement Agreement was signed by Mr. Schechter on behalf of the R. Rex Parris Law Firm under the words " 'Approved as to form and content' " and that Mr. Schechter "later admitted, 'I knew that Monster would not settle the case if [the Fourniers] did not agree to keeping it confidential.' " (Opn. at 5-6.) The Opinion then identifies the facts supporting Monster's claim that Attorneys

breached the terms of the confidentiality provisions. (Opn. at 6-7.)

The Opinion next addresses the merits of Attorneys' anti-SLAPP motion. Its decision is anchored in two conclusions: (1) Monster failed to show that Mr. Schechter's comments to LawyersandSettlements.com fall within the commercial-speech exemption from the anti-SLAPP statute (Opn. at 9-13) and (2) Monster did not show a probability of prevailing on its cause of action for breach of contract because the Attorneys did not agree to be bound by the Settlement Agreement. (Opn. at 13-21.)

The Court of Appeal's analysis of the commercial-speech exemption is premised on several grounds. First, the Opinion states that the commercial-speech exemption turns on the speaker's "purpose" and "intent," and these ordinarily present questions of fact to be determined by a trial court. (Opn. at 11.) Noting that the trial court was in a superior position to make credibility determinations, the Opinion concludes: "we accept the trial court's credibility determinations even though we review the legal effect of those determinations independently." (Opn. at 12.)

Second, the Opinion notes that "the trial court found insufficient evidence that the Attorneys were 'advertising' because there was no evidence they received any leads that the [LawyersandSettlements.com] article generated." (Opn. at 12.) Third, the Opinion concludes the issue of whether Attorneys received any leads from the article or Mr. Schechter's statements to Ms. Craig raises "a credibility issue, and the trial court resolved it in favor of finding no intent to solicit." (Opn. at 12.)

The Opinion then moves to the issue of whether Monster showed a probability of success on its cause of action for breach of contract. It acknowledges that the confidentiality provisions “did at least purport to bind the Attorneys.” (Opn. at 14.) But there is no analysis of whether a trier-of-fact could reasonably find that Attorneys’ approval of the content of the Settlement Agreement included approval and acceptance of the content that placed a duty of confidentiality on them. The Opinion concludes, without analysis, that the “only reasonable construction of this wording [i.e., Approved as to form and content]” is that the Attorneys had given their clients their professional approval to sign the Settlement Agreement. (Opn. at 17 [“In our experience, this is the wording that the legal community customarily uses for this purpose”].) The Opinion does not identify any source for this “experience.”

The Opinion focuses on a case discussed extensively by the parties in their briefs, *Freedman v. Brutzkus* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 1065 (hereafter *Freedman*), and on a case that neither side mentioned in their briefs – *RSUI, supra*, 282 Neb. 436. The Opinion acknowledges that *Freedman* is “not on point,” but describes it as “the only relevant California case we have found.” (Opn. at 17.) The Opinion also concedes that, although the settlement agreement in *Freedman* contained the legend “Approved as to Form and Content” above the defendant attorney’s signature, there were no provisions in the settlement agreement purporting to bind or benefit the attorney. It also concedes *Freedman* concerned a claim of fraud rather than breach of contract against the attorney. (Opn. at 18-19.) Instead of relying on *Freedman*, the Opinion relies on and adopts the holding in

*RSUI*. In *RSUI*, the Nebraska Supreme Court found an attorney’s signature under the words “Agreed to in Form & Substance” in a settlement agreement was insufficient to bind him and his law firm to obligations placed on them under the terms of the agreement. (*RSUI, supra*, 282 Neb. at pp. 437-438.)

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