Supreme Court Case No. S251392

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

## BRUCE L. SCHECHTER, R. REX PARRIS LAW FIRM,

Appellants and Defendants,

v.

## MONSTER ENERGY COMPANY,

Petitioner, Respondent, and Plaintiff.

Court of Appeal of the State of California Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E066267 Hon. Manuel A. Ramirez, Presiding Justice Hon. Art W. McKinster, Justice Hon. Douglas P. Miller, Justice

Riverside County Superior Court Case No. RIC 1511553 Hon. Judge Daniel A. Ottolia, presiding

## **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

## **BREMER WHYTE BROWN & O'MEARA LLP** KEITH G. BREMER, SBN 155920

INTRODUCTION
LEGAL DISCUSSION
I. REVIEW IS NOT REQUIRED TO SECURE UNIFORMITY OF DECISION
II. THE OPINION IS CORRECTLY DECIDED AND THERE IS NO
IMPORTANT LEGAL ISSUE FOR THIS COURT TO SETTLE
<ul> <li>2.1 THE OPINION CORRECTLY DETERMINES THAT AN ATTORNEY IS NOT LIABLE FOR BREACH OF AN AGREEMENT IF THE ATTORNEY SIGNED THE AGREEMENT ONLY UNDER THE WORDS "APPROVED AS TO FORM AND CONTENT"</li></ul>
STANDARD IN RULING MONSTER ENERGY DID NOT
ESTABLISH A PROBABILITY OF PREVAILING ON ITS
BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIM
2.3 THE OPINION CORRECTLY EVALUATES THE
COMMERCIAL SPEECH EXEMPTION14
CONCLUSION15

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# Page 1

Cases
Freedman v. Brutzkus
(2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 1065 (Freedman) 5
Freedman, supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 10675, 9
<i>Freedman, supra</i> , 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 1067; Opn., p. 5 10
Gallant v. City of Carson (2005) 128 Cal.App.4th 705, 710 (Gallant)
Leung v. Verdugo Hills Hospital (2012) 55 Cal.4th 291, 304
People v. Davis (1905) 147 Cal. 346, 348 (Davis)
Peregrine Funding, Inc. v. Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton LLP (2005) 133 Cal.App.4th 658, 675 (Peregrine)13
<i>Reid v. Google, Inc.</i> (2010) (50 Cal 4th 512, 532, fn. 7.)
RSUI and Freedman, supra, 182Cal.App.4 <sup>th</sup> 1065
RSUI Indem. Co. v. Bacon (2011) 282 Neb. 436 [810 N.W.2d 666] (RSUI) 6
<i>RSUI</i> , <i>supra</i> , 282 Neb. at p. 438
<i>RSUI</i> , <i>supra</i> , 282 Neb. at p. 442, Opn., p. 19
Simpson Strong-Tie Company, Inc. v. Gore (2010) 49 Cal.4th 12, 26
Simpson, supra, 49 Cal.4th at p. 22
Statutes
Code Civ. Proc., § 425.17, subd. (c)(1))
Code Civ. Proc., § 425.17, subd. (c),

#### **INTRODUCTION**

This case arises out of the settlement of a wrongful death action, in which the parents of a 14-year old girl alleged their daughter died after drinking the energy drinks of Petitioner, Respondent and Plaintiff Monster Energy Company ("Monster Energy"). In that settlement agreement, the *parties* agreed for consideration exchanged to maintain confidentiality of the terms of the agreement; however, the *attorneys* for the parties signed the settlement agreement only "Approved as to form and content." The Court of Appeal held that an attorney signing only in this manner is not binding himself or herself to the terms of the agreement. There is no conflicting California case law on this issue. Accordingly, Monster Energy's Petition for Review should be denied because it does not meet any of the strict requirements for this Court's review.

To begin, review cannot be justified by Monster Energy's strained claim that there is a need to secure unanimity of decision, as there is no conflict among the appellate districts as to the material issues raised in the appeal. In fact, the Court of Appeal Opinion is completely consistent with *Freedman v. Brutzkus* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 1065 (*Freedman*), the only California case cited in the briefing that explains the significance of an attorney signing an agreement as to form and content.

Review is also not necessary to settle an important question of law. Monster Energy first contends the Opinion threatens to undermine California's policy in favor of settlement. It bases this contention for the most part on criticism of a Nebraska Supreme Court decision, *RSUI Indem. Co. v. Bacon* (2011) 282 Neb. 436 [810 N.W.2d 666] (*RSUI*), whose reasoning the Opinion finds persuasive. Monster Energy then attempts to distinguish *RSUI* and *Freedman*, *supra*, 182 Cal.App.4th 1065, but its efforts are unavailing; the differences in facts and procedural postures have no impact on the meaning of "Approved as to form and content." Finally, Monster Energy worries settlements will now be

discouraged, yet the Opinion provides clear guidance on how to bind attorneys to confidentiality provisions in settlement agreements: by making them parties to the confidentiality provisions of the agreement, and by requiring them to sign as parties to those provisions. The Opinion does not create an issue of unsettled law, rather, it substantially clarifies the issue of binding attorneys contractually to confidentiality provisions in settlement agreements.

Monster Energy's contention that the Opinion fails to apply the correct standard on the second prong of a motion to strike under the anti-SLAPP statute is certainly not review worthy—it is entirely case specific and has no broader implications than this particular case. In any event, it has no merit. There is no evidence the attorney admitted to a contractual obligation to Monster Energy arising out of the settlement agreement. The only evidence on the issue consists of (1) the attorney's statements to a reporter indicating he could not reveal the terms of the settlement agreement, (2) the attorney's explanation that his confidentiality obligation was to his client due to his ethical duties, and (3) the settlement agreement itself, which does not reflect an intention by the attorney to be bound by the terms of the settlement agreement.

Finally, Monster Energy's contention that the Opinion fails to properly evaluate the commercial speech exemption to the anti-SLAPP statute is again entirely case specific and not review worthy. This contention too is without merit. The only evidence as to the parents' attorney's purpose or intent in mentioning harm from these energy drinks, was the article containing the subject communication itself, and its presence on a website that allegedly "generates leads for attorneys." That evidence did not demonstrate the attorneys themselves engaged in any advertising activity or the attorney's purpose or intent in granting the interview to the reporter. In an apparent effort to create an unsettled question of law out of whole cloth, Monster Energy raises the specter of a new "successbased test," i.e., commercial speech requires the speaker to advertise successfully.

This is not what the Court of Appeal holds. It merely determines there was no substantial evidence the attorney's purpose or intent in making the subject statements was commercial.

There simply is no basis for review, and the Court should deny the Petition.

#### **LEGAL DISCUSSION**

This Court may review a decision of the Court of Appeal "[w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Ct., rule 8.500(b)(1).)<sup>1</sup> There is no split of authority on the material issues raised in the appeal, or the Petition in particular. Similarly, there is no important question of law that is unsettled following the Court of Appeal Opinion.

#### I.

# REVIEW IS NOT REQUIRED TO SECURE UNIFORMITY OF DECISION.

Review cannot be justified here by a purported need to secure unanimity of decision. (Cal. Rules of Ct., rule 8.500(b).) There is no conflict among the appellate districts as to the material issues raised in the appeal. In fact, the Petition does not identify any such conflicts. Further, the Opinion is completely consistent with the *Freedman* case, the only California case cited in the briefing that explains the significance of an attorney signing an agreement as to form and content. It is also consistent with the *RSUI* case, which was not cited by the parties in their briefing, but its reasoning was found persuasive by the Court of Appeal in reaching its decision.<sup>2</sup> Hence, review is not required to secure uniformity of decision.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The bases for review set forth in California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(2)-(4) do not apply here and are not raised in the Petition.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  *RSUI* was cited in the Court of Appeal's tentative opinion that was distributed to the parties prior to argument and both parties had a full opportunity to address the case at oral

П.

# THE OPINION IS CORRECTLY DECIDED AND THERE IS NO IMPORTANT LEGAL ISSUE FOR THIS COURT TO SETTLE.

Review is also not "necessary to settle an important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Ct., rule 8.500(b).) Although Monster Energy never articulates what "important question[s] of law" require settling by this Court, it identifies what it claims are three issues for review: (1) "Is the attorney bound by [confidentiality provisions in a settlement agreement] or does the attorney's signature [approving] the agreement as to form and content] merely convey professional approval for the attorney's client to sign the agreement?"; (2) "Was it appropriate for the Court of Appeal to accept [the attorney's] explanation that this statement reflected his ethical obligations to his client and to disregard plaintiff Monster's contention that this statement could reasonably be construed by a trier of fact as an admission that the attorney and his law firm were bound by the confidentiality provisions in the parties' settlement agreement?"; and (3) "In determining whether statements qualify as commercial speech exempt from an anti-SLAPP motion under Code of Civil Procedure section 425.17, subdivision (c), is it appropriate—as determined by the Court of Appeal in this case—to resolve this issue based on whether the challenged speech is successful in generating business for the speaker?" (Petn. for Review, pp. 6-7.) None of these are important questions of law warranting settlement by this Court, and the latter two questions are entirely case specific and misconstrue the Opinion.

2.1. The Opinion Correctly Determines That an Attorney Is Not Liable for Breach of an Agreement If the Attorney Signed the Agreement Only under the Words "Approved as to Form and Content."

argument. *RSUI* also relied on *Freedman*. Monster Energy also raised *RSUI* in its petition for rehearing, which the Court of Appeal denied.

Monster Energy apparently does not find fault with the Opinion's conclusion that the clients could not bind their attorneys to the settlement agreement without the attorneys' consent. Instead, it contends the Opinion "threatens to undermine California's policy in favor of settlement."<sup>3</sup> (Petn. for Review, p. 19.) How it does so is never explained.

Monster Energy's attack on the Opinion's reasoning is centered on the *RSUI* decision. (Petn. for Review, p. 19.) Its main criticism of the *RSUI* decision appears to be that in *RSUI* the legend below which the subject attorney signed, read "Agreed to in Form & Substance," and that the *RSUI* court's interpretation of "Agreed" is "inconsistent with the [California] Judicial Council's jury instructions on the formation of a contract." (Petn. for Review, p. 19.) In particular, Monster Energy points to CACI No. 302, which provides that the third element to prove creation of a contract is "[t]hat the parties agreed to the terms of the contract." (Petn. for Review, pp. 19-20; CACI No. 302 (2018 ed.).) Monster Energy tries to create a conflict by claiming that neither the *RSUI* decision nor the Court of Appeal's Opinion "explains why the word 'agreed' was not given its ordinary meaning or why it failed to bind the attorneys in *RSUI*." (Petn. for Review, p. 23.)

The question here, however, is not whether the Nebraska Supreme Court's interpretation of "agreed" conflicts with a California jury instruction. The legend above the attorney's signature in *RSUI* read "Agreed to in Form & Substance." (*RSUI, supra*, 282 Neb. at p. 438.) But, the legend in *Freedman* read "Approved as to form and content." (*Freedman, supra*, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 1067, emphasis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Monster Energy purports to place a high value on confidentiality, but the true purpose underlying this litigation in general and the petition for review in particular is clearly not an interest in confidentiality. To begin, Monster Energy agreed the attorneys could make claims about its energy drinks in connection with other cases they were handling, and the so-called breach of confidentiality here was not a disclosure of the settlement amount. Second, Monster Energy's continuing pursuit of this case through this Court serves only to publicize the settlement—not to maintain its confidentiality.

added.) And, the legend in this case also read "*Approved* as to form and content." (Opn., p. 5.) So, even if the term "agreed" was used in the *RSUI* legend, it was not used in either California case—the *Freedman* legend or the legend used in this case. (*Freedman, supra,* 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 1067; Opn., p. 5.) Therefore, there is no inconsistency between the Opinion and CACI No. 302. Further, the Opinion discusses *RSUI* only because it is more on point factually with this case than the *Freedman* case. (Opn., p. 19.) *RSUI* cited *Freedman* with approval, and the Opinion does so as well. (*RSUI, supra,* 282 Neb. at p. 442, Opn., p. 19.)

Importantly, while the Opinion points to differences in the facts and procedure in *Freedman* from those in the instant case, it states *Freedman* "does stand for the proposition that an attorney's signature under words such as 'approved as to form and content' means only that the document has the attorney's professional thumbs-up. It follows that it does not objectively manifest the attorney's intent to be bound." (Opn., pp. 19-20.)

There is no California authority to the contrary. Monster Energy claims to have found such "authority" by citing to what amounts to (1) an attorney's blog post<sup>4</sup>, (2) a settlement agreement template prepared by a mediator<sup>5</sup>, and (3) a settlement agreement form in a practice guide.<sup>6</sup> It claims the Opinion "[i]gnor[es] this prior guidance," but fails to explain why the Court of Appeal or this Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Rutan & Tucker LLP, First amendment/anti-Slapp did not insulate law firm from liability for violation of confidentiality clause in mediated settlement agreement (July 2, 2013), Lexology, <http://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=93f3f0cb-e179-42dd-9797-7615443a3f8e> (as of October 2, 2018) [discussing unpublished case and not addressing the significance of an attorney signing as to form and content].
<sup>5</sup> Lewis, Settlement Template, < http://www.mediatorjudge.com/pg13.cfm > (as of October 2, 2018) [form agreement with no analysis or citation to legal authority].
<sup>6</sup> Croskey et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Insurance Litigation (The Rutter Group 2017) Form 15:C, pp. 15-252 to 15-254 [including a purported confidentiality agreement as to parties and attorneys, and a signature line for attorneys under "Approved as to form and content," but without any discussion or citation to authority as to the legal effect of such signature].

must be guided by what amount to blog posts and forms of agreements that are unsupported by law on the relevant issue. (Petn. for Review, p. 20.)

Monster Energy seeks to escape the plain explanation in *Freedman* of the effect of a signature under "approved as to form and content," approved by the Court of Appeal here and cited to in *RSUI*, by pointing to some irrelevant factual and procedural differences in *RSUI*. Importantly, the Opinion is mindful of the factual and procedural differences between *Freedman* and this case, nevertheless approving of the *Freedman* court's explanation for the meaning of a signature under "approved as to form and content." (Opn., pp. 19-20.)

As to these differences, Monster Energy first contends "[d]istinct from the situation presented by Monster's claim against Attorneys, the RSUI defendant attorneys' potential ability to escape liability did not nullify or render worthless their client's obligations under the settlement agreement." (Petn. for Review, p. 21.) How this distinction impacts the propriety of the Opinion's approval of the *RSUI* reasoning or the *Freedman* court's explanation for the meaning of a signature under "approved as to form and content" is not explained. There is no relationship between the two.

Monster Energy then contends *RSUI* is distinguishable because in *RSUI* there "was no mention of extrinsic evidence on the issue of whether the attorneys had agreed to be bound by the terms of the settlement agreement." (Petn. for Review, p. 21.) It apparently presumes there was such extrinsic evidence here, yet does not explain why it matters when interpreting the plain language of an agreement. It further fails to explain how this impacts the Opinion's approval of *RSUI*'s reasoning or the *Freedman* court's explanation for the meaning of a signature under "approved as to form and content."

Finally, as for the stated concern that the Opinion threatens to "undermine" California's policy in favor of settlement, the Opinion expressly addresses this issue:

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